COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as trustee of the Banc of America Funding 2007-D, its successors in interest and/or assigns,

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Blair La Mothe asks this Court to accept review of the published Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its unpublished decision on May 12, 2014. A copy of this decision is in the Appendix pages A-1 through A-6. La Mothe's timely motion for reconsideration was denied on August 13, 2014. A copy of the order denying publication is in the Appendix page B-1.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is standing a jurisdictional issue if it is grounded in a particular statute that only permits certain parties to bring an action?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The recitation of the facts in the Court of Appeals opinion omits some facts relevant to the resolution of this case. La Mothe presents these relevant facts.

La Mothe is the owner of real property located in Kirkland, Washington. CP 46-50. A deed of trust and note were recorded against the property in 2005, naming Wells Fargo Bank, National Association ("Wells Fargo") as the trustee. CP 12-37. Through a series of transactions La Mothe contested below, Wells Fargo claimed that U.S.

Bank became assignee of the note and deed of trust. CP 51, 225-27, 230. This issue was contested at trial and on appeal. CP 84-90; Br. of Appellant at 5-24.

The improperly documented "assignment" of the note and deed of trust arose in the wake of mortgage loan securitization, "robo-signing," bundling, and other questionable bank practices that led to the 2008 recession. *See Bain v. Metro. Mortgage Grp., Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 118, n.18, 285 P.3d 34 (2012). Officers entrusted with proper documentation often issued assignments without verifying the underlying information, which resulted in incorrect or fraudulent transfers. *Id.* Problems with chains of title for the securitized mortgages are ongoing. *Id.* at 88.

The Court of Appeals stated that La Mothe did not raise the standing issue at trial. Op. at 3. He did raise it, and U.S. Bank admitted that. Br. of Resp't at 16. The arguments about which bank was the proper plaintiff were admittedly confusing and based on various court rules, see br. of resp't at 16-18, but the issue was raised.¹

The Court of Appeals stated that La Mothe did not assign error to the trial court's factual finding that U.S. Bank was the real party in interest. Op. at 5. However, the Court of Appeals did not acknowledge that La Mothe's assignment of error was framed thus: "The Judge of the

Superior Court committed reversible error in *not dismissing the underlying*Amended Complaint because Respondent was not the real party in interest and lacked standing to seek a judicial foreclosure." Br. of Appellant at 1.

La Mothe's appeal was predicated on jurisdictional issues that negated standing at the outset of the claim, such that the trial court was not empowered to reach the merits and its order was void, including all of its factual findings. Reply Br. at 2.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED²

Review is merited here under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to decisional law on the question of whether standing can sometimes be a jurisdictional requirement, depending on the nature of the standing issue raised, and whether a court can entertain an action brought by an improper party simply because the parties "concede" standing.

(1) This and Other Court of Appeals Opinions Dismiss a Conflicting Opinion from this Court as a "Drive-By" Ruling Not to Be Followed

La Mothe argued that U.S. Bank was not the proper party to bring the foreclosure action. Op. at 3. La Mothe contended that the original

However, whether La Mothe raised the issue at trial is not dispositive of the issues raised in this petition, as explained infra section E(1).

This Court is fully familiar with the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) governing acceptance of review of a Court of Appeals decision.

lender, Wells Fargo, never properly negotiated or transferred the subject note and deed of trust to U.S. Bank. As such, La Mothe contended the trial court did not have jurisdiction to hear U.S. Bank's complaint. He raised the standing issue at trial, but raised for the first time on appeal that U.S. Bank was not the proper party at trial, but that instead Wells Fargo should have brought the foreclosure action as the only demonstrable holder of the note. He was entitled to do this under RAP 2.5(a)(1).

The Court of Appeals concluded that in Washington, a plaintiff's lack of standing is never a matter of jurisdiction. Op. at 3. The Court cited its own recent ruling in *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn. App. 185, 312 P.3d 976 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1010 (2014). The Court of Appeals acknowledged that this Court has held that standing is a jurisdictional issue that can be raised for the first time on appeal. Op. at 4, citing *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 146 Wn.2d 207, 212 n.3, 45 P.3d 186, amended on denial of reconsideration, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). However, the Court of Appeals disregarded this Court's holding in *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters*, describing it as a "drive-by jurisdictional ruling" that it would decline to respect. Op. at 4, quoting *Trinity*, 176 Wn. App. at 199 n.7.³

The Court of Appeals did not address its obligation to follow the opinions of this Court, as opposed to its own opinion. See State v. Gore, 101 Wn.2d 481, 681 P.2d

There is a plain conflict between Division I of the Court of Appeals and this Court on the issue of standing and when it is a jurisdictional issue, if ever. This Court has repeatedly and recently affirmed that standing is a jurisdictional issue in many circumstances, including the case at bar. Division I acknowledged this conflict, yet followed its own opinion rather than apply this Court's precedent, or distinguish this case from *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters* and similar authority.

In the opinion that the Court of Appeals expressly disregarded, this Court's holding was explicit, even if it was contained in a footnote. *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters*, 146 Wn.2d at 212 n.3. Far from being a "drive-by" ruling as Division I has contended, that footnote referred interested persons to the standing analysis conducted by Division III of the Court of Appeals in that case. *Id.* Thus the Court of Appeals incorporated by reference Division III's analysis and holding that "Because standing is a jurisdictional issue, however, it may be raised for the first time in appellate court." *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 103 Wn. App. 764, 768, 14 P.3d 193 (2000), *aff'd*, 146 Wn.2d 207 (2002) *amended on denial of reconsideration*, 50 P.3d 618 (2002).

227 (1984) (once the Washington State Supreme Court decides an issue of state law, that

^{227 (1984) (}once the Washington State Supreme Court decides an issue of state law, that interpretation is binding on all lower courts until overruled by the Supreme Court).

This Court reaffirmed the *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters* principle of standing as jurisdiction in *Lane v. City of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 875, 885, 194 P.3d 977 (2008). In *Lane*, a group of ratepayers ("Lane") challenged Seattle Public Utilities' charges for fire hydrant payments. *Id.* at 880-81. Although Lane had dropped the argument on appeal, this Court addressed it. *Id.* at 885. This Court felt compelled to address the standing argument because it considered the matter jurisdictional:

Seattle challenged Lane's standing to challenge the tax at trial but has dropped the argument here. *However, standing is a matter of our jurisdiction.* Without jurisdiction, we cannot hear a case, even if every party concedes standing.

Id. (emphasis added).

In another standing-as-jurisdictional requirement case, this Court considered whether certain plaintiffs had standing to challenge a tax statute based on the asserted negative impact the statute has on third parties. *High Tide Seafoods v. State*, 106 Wn.2d 695, 701, 725 P.2d 411 (1986). This Court held that the plaintiffs had no standing to challenge the statute on behalf of third parties because they had not alleged "a personal injury fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief." *Id.* at 702. This Court held, "If a plaintiff lacks standing to bring a suit, courts lack jurisdiction to consider it." *Id.*

The confusion about the jurisdictional nature of standing seems to stem from the fact that Washington courts, unlike federal courts, have no constitutional "case or controversy" constraint. Division I of the Court of Appeals recently overturned its own prior authority regarding standing as a jurisdictional issue, citing article IV, section 6 of the Washington Constitution. *MHM & F, LLC v. Pryor*, 168 Wn. App. 451, 459, 277 P.3d 62 (2012). The Court observed – correctly – that under the Constitution, superior courts are vested with general subject matter jurisdiction over most common law cases by virtue of the constitution, and that power cannot be revoked by the Legislature. *Id.* at 460.

However, the Court ignored that the fact that this Court's analysis has differed in cases that were not common law causes of action enumerated or otherwise implied in article I, section 4. When the Legislature *creates* a cause of action not enumerated in the Constitution, it can limit what persons have standing to bring that action, and thus limit the courts' jurisdiction to hear it. *High Tide Seafoods*, 106 Wn.2d at 701; *Lane*, 164 Wn.2d at 885.

Thus, the principle of jurisdictional standing is properly invoked against plaintiffs when the cause of action asserted is statutorily created and limited to named parties under the statute. *See, e.g., Spokane Airports* v. *RMA, Inc.*, 149 Wn. App. 930, 942, 206 P.3d 364 (2009), review denied,

167 Wn.2d 1017 (2010) ("a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction when a necessary party under a statute is not a party to the action before it"). In such a case, the jurisdictional argument can be raised at any time by either party or by the Court. RAP 2.5(a)(1); *Lane*, 164 Wn.2d at 885.

Despite this Court's pronouncements on the issue, Division I of the Court of Appeals continues to hold that standing is never a jurisdictional issue even when a cause of action is statutory and the Legislature has specified the parties in interest.⁴ Op. at 4; *Trinity*, 176 Wn. App. at 199; *Cole v. Harveyland, LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 209, 258 P.3d 70 (2011) (Division I holding that "The statutory eight employee threshold for antidiscrimination claims is a matter of substantive law to be raised at trial, not a prerequisite of subject matter jurisdiction").

Without jurisdiction, a court cannot hear a case. *High Tide Seafoods*, 106 Wn.2d at 702. This is true even if "every party concedes standing." *Id*. The issue of jurisdiction can be raised at any time in a case, even for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(1).

Thus, Division I's opinion conflicts with opinions of this Court on multiple grounds. It conflicts with this Court's jurisprudence on statutory standing and jurisdiction, and it conflicts with this Court's authority ruling

⁴ Divisions II and III of the Court of Appeals recognize the finer distinction that this Court has drawn between jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional standing. Those

that when standing is a jurisdictional issue, it cannot be conceded. Op. at 4, 5.

Division I's opinion here applies its own ruling in *Trinity* and *explicitly* conflicts with this Court's precedent on standing as a jurisdictional issue. Op. at 4. When a particular cause of action is statutorily created, and that statute identifies a particular party as the party with standing to bring the claim, the lack of standing is a question of jurisdiction that can be raised at any time. This Court should accept review to address this conflict between the Court of Appeals opinion and the opinions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(2) There Is a Conflict Between Divisions of the Court of Appeals Regarding Standing and Jurisdiction Under RAP 2.5(a)(1)

Division I held that standing is not a jurisdictional issue and thus may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Op. at 3. Citing RAP 2.5(a)(1), that rule is the authority permitting jurisdiction to be raised for the first time on appeal, the Court held that it would not consider La Mothe's argument on the merits. Op. at 5.

Divisions II and III of the Court of Appeals do not agree with Division I in its analysis of the standing-as-jurisdiction issue, particularly

Divisions' treatment of this issue and the conflict between the divisions is discussed *infra* section E(2).

in the context of applying RAP 2.5 (a)(1). Those Divisions have allowed parties to raise standing issues for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a), albeit for different reasons.

Division III has framed the matter thus: "A court lacks subject matter jurisdiction when a necessary party under a statute is not a party to the action before it." *Spokane Airports*, 149 Wn. App. at 942. Division III expressly equated statutory standing with jurisdiction, citing this Court's opinion in *Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, LLC v. Friends of Skagit County*, 135 Wn.2d 542, 556–57, 958 P.2d 962 (1998). *Id.* at 943-44. The holding of this case is in direct conflict with Division I's holding here and in *Trinity*.

Division II, while not expressly holding that lack of standing is a lack of jurisdiction, has analyzed the two issues identically for purposes of deciding whether standing can be raised for the first time on appeal:

Jurisdiction—the power of the court to entertain a proceeding—can be raised for the first time on appeal. The rationale for this is self-evident. It would be pointless to consider claimed errors where the proceeding itself was incurably defective for lack of jurisdiction. The same rationale applies to standing, the right of a person to press a claim. Facts establishing standing are as essential to a successful claim for relief as is the jurisdiction of a court to grant it. Thus, we hold that the insufficiency of a factual basis to support standing may also be raised for the first time on appeal in accordance with RAP 2.5(a)(2).

Mitchell v. Doe, 41 Wn. App. 846, 847, 706 P.2d 1100 (1985). Thus, Division II's view is that standing is not expressly a matter of jurisdiction, but is so similar in nature that it should be considered for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a). Thus, Division II also conflicts with Division I on the issue of whether standing – as a jurisdictional issue or in its own right – is such a fundamental issue that the Court of Appeals should address the issue, even if it is raised for the first time on appeal.

Thus, there is a clear conflict between the divisions of the Court of Appeals on the issue of standing as jurisdiction, and on the issue of standing being properly raised for the first time on appeal. Although the opinion in this case is unpublished, it relies on two published opinions – *Trinity* and *Cole* – that clearly establish this conflict. Op. at 4.

When there is a conflict between divisions of the Court of Appeals, and this Court does not address the conflict, it puts trial courts in a difficult position. Mark DeForrest, *In the Groove or in A Rut? Resolving Conflicts Between the Divisions of the Washington State Court of Appeals at the Trial Court Level*, 48 Gonz. L. Rev. 455, 459 (2013). "Since the court of appeals is one court with jurisdiction over the entire state, a trial court judge faces a difficult task when deciding issues for which there are conflicting authorities from the court of appeals." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals' conflict creates a catch-22 for a trial court judge. This comes into focus by examining the Court of Appeals decision in Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 326, 864 P.2d 960 (1993), aff'd sub nom., 886 P.2d 189 (1994), a Division I case. In Marley, the state appealed an order of summary judgment, arguing in part that the trial court's decision permitted the plaintiff to evade a time limitation for an appeal. Id. at 965. The trial court in Marley had followed a ruling set out in a Division III case, Fairley v. Department of Labor and Industries, 29 Wn. App. 477, 627 P.2d 961, review denied, 95 Wn.2d 1032 (1981), in making its ruling that the time limitation did not apply to the plaintiff's cause of action. Id. at 962. Division I expressly stated that while it was not obligated to follow Division III's ruling in formulating its own opinion, the earlier decision by the trial court was obligated to follow Division III's ruling: "the trial court was bound by the court's decision in Fairley." Id. While Division I was free to disagree with Division III and formulate a different conclusion to the legal problem, id., the trial court, facing the situation prior to Division I's examination of the issue, did not have that freedom. DeForrest, 48 Gonz. L. Rev. at 461 (2013).

The conflict between the divisions can only be resolved definitively by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(2); see Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 18, 109 P.3d 805 (2005) (noting

conflict between Divisions I and II needing this Court's resolution). This conflict will continue unless and until this Court exercises its authority to resolve it. This Court should accept review.

F. CONCLUSION

This Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision. Blair La Mothe is entitled to examination of the standing issue on the merits. Whether U.S. Bank was the proper party to foreclose on his property is not an issue that can be waived or conceded. It is a jurisdictional issue that U.S. Bank, not La Mothe, had the burden of proving at the outset of its case. This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals opinion and the trial court's judgment and remand the case to the trial court for further proceedings.