RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 15, 2014, 3:37 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 90353-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Court of Appeals Division I No. 70140-1

U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee of the Banc of America Funding 2007-D

Respondents

٧.

Blair La Mothe,

Petitioner

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Jeffrey Ramsdell)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ronald E. Beard WSBA No. 24014 David C. Spellman WSBA No. 15884 LANE POWELL PC Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, Washington 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000 Facsimile: 206.223.7107

ORIGINAL

#

### INTRODUCTION

This is a straightforward case, where the court granted the noteholder a decree of judicial foreclosure after a bench trial. The complicating factor has been the borrower on appeal raised new claims that had not been preserved, that were inconsistent with the record, and that generally lacked any merit.

This Court should deny the petition to review the unpublished decision affirming the decree of judicial foreclosure against petitioner Blair La Mothe and in favor of plaintiff/respondent U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee for a loan trust (known as the Banc of America Funding 2007-D) (U.S. Bank). The case is not appropriate the vehicle to clarify or test the scope of RAP 2.5(a), which is entitled Errors Raised for the First Time on Review. Moreover, the new statutory standing claim (which was raised for the first time on review) cannot alter the judgment on the merits in this case.

### **COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### A. After a bench trial, the Court granted judicial foreclosure.

The U.S Bank sued La Mothe to enforce a secured loan, reform the deed of trust, and judicially foreclosed against investment property. La Mothe had not made a payment since October 2009 – four years ago.<sup>1</sup>

At trial, experienced foreclosure counsel (David Leen) represented La Mothe.<sup>2</sup> At trial before Judge Joan Dubuque, La Mothe stipulated to the reformation of the deed of trust's legal description.<sup>3</sup> La Mothe acknowledged borrowing the money and defaulting on his obligation in 2009.<sup>4</sup> He further acknowledged that U.S. Bank was entitled to collect on the loan, and the endorsed note and assignment were evidence in the bench trial.<sup>5</sup>

After admitting into evidence the endorsed note and the recorded assignment of the deed of trust and hearing the arguments of counsel, the court entered findings and conclusions that U.S Bank was the real party in interest and granted judicial foreclosure. <sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RP at 72:18-73:2; id. at 70:5-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 253-54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 75 (stipulation); CP 8:6-9:3 (allegations in the complaint).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RP 120:17-25.

Decision at 2, 5 n. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 341-53; RP (March 1, 2013) 1-11 (La Mothe timely appealed); CP 355-75.

#### B. The Court of Appeals rejected new issues raised for the first time on appeal and affirmed.

On appeal, the borrower hired new counsel who raised three issues: (1) U.S. Bank was not the real party in interest, (2) the trial court improperly admitted the note as a trial exhibit, and (3) U.S. Bank lacked standing to seek foreclosure. But the Court of Appeals affirmed on each of three issues, because the record established that (1) La Mothe had conceded that U.S. Bank was the real party in interest, (2) La Mothe failed to object to the admission of the note at trial, and (3) La Mothe failed preserve the standing argument at trial.8

During oral argument, appellate counsel withdrew the real party in interest issue, conceding La Mothe raised the opposite real party in interest theory at trial and had not challenged a factual finding that the correct party was before the court. After making that concession, La Mothe's remaining issue was if the bank lacked standing. La Mothe argued the lack of standing could be raised even on appeal, but the Court of Appeals "was not persuaded by this jurisdiction claim" and ruled the argument conflicted with controlling authority that lack of standing was not lack of subject matter jurisdiction.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Decision at 1. <sup>8</sup> *Id*.

<sup>10</sup> Decision at 3-4.

# C. The Court of Appeals denied the reconsideration motion that raised more new issues.

La Mothe moved for reconsideration, argued his lack of standing claim raised subject matter jurisdiction and raised a statute of frauds provision that had not been briefed. La Mothe contended the trial court "committed reversible error in not dismissing the Underlying Amended Complaint because Respondent [U.S. Bank]... lacked standing to seek a judicial foreclosure."

In reply, U.S. Bank observed that La Mothe's brief violated RAP 10.3 by failing to identify the part of record where he had moved for dismissal. The fundamental problem was La Mothe never moved for dismissal; he did not even plead standing as a defense. U.S. Bank also brought to the court's attention how: "La Mothe filed a trial brief containing the cursory statement that 'Plaintiff lacks standing or authority to foreclose." U.S. Bank then explained how La Mothe abandoned any standing theory at trial:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Mot. for Recons. at 11; *id.* at 16-17 (raising RCW 64.04.010 (part of the statute of frauds). The statute of frauds is an affirmative defense listed in CR 8(c). La Mothe did not assert the statute of frauds among his affirmative defenses or at trial. CP 88-89. He waived that defense. Additionally, he did not explain how the defense applied to this case.

<sup>12</sup> Opening Br. at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Br. of Resp't at 21. Br. of Resp't at 21 (citing <u>Dennis v. Heggen</u>, 35 Wn. App. 432, 434, 667 P.2d 131 (1983) (granting 12(b)(6) dismissal on the basis of lack of real party-in-interest status resulting from assignment)).

<sup>14</sup> CP 88-89.

<sup>15</sup> Br. of Resp't at 22 (citing CP 194:13-14).

The trial transcript does not mention the word "standing" except in the context that one attorney was "standing up." In contrast, during closing, La Mothe argued that U.S. Bank was the proper party. During closing, he never argued that U.S. Bank lacked standing. Washington courts have declined to consider standing when a party has failed to raise it below. Here, La Mothe waived any standing defense by failing to pursue it at trial. Raising the new defense on appeal prejudices U.S. Bank, by depriving it of presenting additional evidence and responsive arguments below.16

The trial brief framed the cursory lack-of-standing legal conclusion in terms of a factual issue that was more akin to the issue of the real-party-ininterest status: "there is no evidence that Plaintiff has possession of the But the trial court decided that factual issue against La Mothe. 18 That issue became a verity on appeal, when La Mothe failed to assign error to the trial court's findings and conclusions that the note was in evidence and was endorsed to U.S. Bank, U.S. Bank was the assignee of the mortgage, and the correct party in interest was before the court. 19 Bolstering the record against La Mothe were his trial counsel's and his own admissions that U.S. Bank was the real party in interest entitled to collect on the note.<sup>20</sup>

16 Id. at 22-23.

<sup>20</sup> Decision at 5 n. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 190:21-191:2 (Trial Br. § Introduction); CP 194:13-14 (§ Conclusion stating "Plaintiff lacks standing or authority to foreclose upon the property ...").

 <sup>18</sup> CP 366 (Finding G).
 19 Decision at 2, 5 n. 6; CP 366-67.

On appeal, the reconsideration motion argued that RCW 64.04.010 should be considered. But La Mothe had failed to reference the statute in any pleading until he moved for reconsideration. U.S. Bank observed that the new argument was so undeveloped that it does not warrant consideration. The new argument appeared to be that RCW 64.04.010 (the statute of frauds for real estate and trusts) somehow imposes a standing requirement on the plaintiff trust arising from the securitization of interests. But the motion failed to identify any statutory requirement that the trust failed to satisfy. 23

The new argument could not resuscitate standing as an issue or argument for number of reasons, including the Pooling and Servicing Agreement's § 11.11 restricting third-party beneficiaries prevents La Mothe from invoking that agreement.<sup>24</sup> Furthermore, the well-established majority rule rejects borrower standing defenses stemming from a trust's alleged violation of a Pooling and Servicing Agreement or from the securitization process.<sup>25</sup> More recent decisions reinforce the majority rule.<sup>26</sup>

21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Appellee's Resp. to Mot. for Recons. at 6-7.

Mot. for Recons. at 6, 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Appellee's Resp. to Mot. for Recons. at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Br. of Resp't at 25-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See generally Additional Authorities of Respondent (Mar. 24, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See, e.g., Ogorsolka v. Residential Credit Solutions, Inc., No. 2:14-cv-00078-RSM (W.D. Wash. June 23, 2014) (granting 12(b)(6) dismissal and citing Washington and California decisions ruling borrowers lacked standing to enforce the terms of Pooling and

After receiving US Bank's response, the court denied reconsideration. Petitioning for review, La Mothe has brought on new counsel.

# ANALYSIS AND ARGUMENT WHY DISCRETIONARY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

La Mothe argues that discretionary review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), which permit review when the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of this Court or with another decision of the Court of Appeals.<sup>27</sup> But no decisional conflict warrants the discretionary review of the unpublished decision in this case. Furthermore, the substantive claims lack any merit undercutting the plea for review of an appellate procedural issue.

La Mothe simply misunderstands the role of appellate discretion and its application in preservation of error rule and the exceptions to the rule. Any conflict between divisions of the Court of Appeals regarding

<sup>27</sup> Pet. for Review at 3.

Servicing Agreements); Natividad v. Bank of Am., NA, No. C 14-0215 MMC (N.D. Cal. May 28, 2014) (granting 12(b)(6) dismissal and discussing the lack of borrower standing decisions in California state and federal courts); Miller v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., No. 5:13-CV-03192-EJD (N.D. Cal. Aug. 8, 2014). See Wood v. Germann, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 58, 331 P.3d 859, 859 (Nev: 2014) (concluding "that a post-closing-date loan assignment does not render the assignment void, but merely voidable, and that a homeowner therefore lacks standing to rely on the timing of the assignment as a basis for challenging the subsequent purchaser's authority to enforce the loan.") "Thus, we conclude that the ... assignment was not void, but was merely voidable, as Deutsche Bank was entitled to ratify the post-closing-date loan assignment; and appellant, who is neither a party nor an intended third-party beneficiary of the PSA, lacked standing to challenge the assignment's validity." 331 P.3d at 861. See Appellee's Resp. to Mot. for Recons. at 7 (citing decisions).

when standing is classified as a jurisdictional issue under RAP 2.1(a)(1) does not "put the trial courts in a difficult position," because the issue is primarily one regarding appellate discretion – not stare decisis viewed from the trial court perspective.<sup>28</sup>

#### A. The RAP 2.5 embodies the preservation of error rule and breadth of appellate discretion.

RAP 2.5(a) reflects a prudential constraint for limiting judicial decision-making - "the requirement that parties raise issues at trial to preserve them for appeal," reflecting "a policy of conserving judicial resources and forcing litigants to fully articulate their positions as early as possible for resolution."<sup>29</sup>

The preservation of error rule is a well-established requirement in our judicial system.<sup>30</sup> A winning party generally should be entitled to defend a judgment on the record -- not face new issues on appeal. The rule requiring preservation of error generally closes the door to claims not raised in the trial court. The door is left ajar, because appellate courts have the inherent discretion to decide claims of error not raised below<sup>31</sup>

<sup>28</sup> See Pet. For Review at 11 (citing Mark DeForrest, In The Groove or in a Rut? Resolving Conflicts Between the Divisions of the Wash. St. Ct. of App. at the Trial Court Level, 48 GONZ. L. REV. 455, 459 (2012-13)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Justice Phillip Talmadge, Understanding the Limits of Power: Judicial Restraint in General Court Sys., 22 SEATTLE UNIV. L. REV. 695, 715-16 & n. 66 (1999).

30 See 15A Karl B. Tegland & Douglas J. Ende, Wash. Practice: Handbook Civil

Procedure § 88.1 (2013-14 ed.) (preservation of error)

<sup>31</sup> Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844 (2005) ("by using the term 'may," RAP 2.5(a) is written in discretionary, rather than mandatory, terms."); Obert v. Envtl.

and even decide ones not raised by the parties if necessary to reach a proper decision on the merits.<sup>32</sup> Principled appellate discretion identifies general categories claims of errors that may be considered on review, even when the claims are not raised below. RAP 2.5 embodies a framework of principled appellate discretion.

"RAP 2.5 is carefully worded so that it does not require the appellate court to review anything, or to avoid reviewing anything." 33 "The rule is written in terms of what the appellate court may do, thus giving the appellate court broad discretion to determine the scope of review on a case-by-case basis." 4 "The cases tend to be fact-specific and thus have only limited precedential value. The courts have often reached contrasting results under RAP 2.5, but the inconsistencies simply reflect the appellate court's broad discretion under RAP 2.5... 35

The broad discretion of appellate courts cuts against La Mothe's futile efforts to weave together decisions construing the exceptions to RAP 2.5(a)'s preservation rule to arrive at clear conflicting authority supporting the petition for review. The petition suffers from other defects as well.

Research and Dev. Corp., 112 Wn.2d 323, 771 P.2d 340 (1989) ("the rule precluding consideration of issues not previously raised operates only at the discretion of this court.")

<sup>32</sup> Alverado v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 111 Wn.2d 424, 429, 759 P.2d 427 (1988).
33 2A Karl B. Tegland Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RAP 2.5 at 146 (7th ed. 2011)
(Author's comments, heading "Appellate court discretion").
34 1d.

<sup>35</sup> Id.

# B. Appellate lawyers are tempted to misclassify issues as jurisdictional to avoid the preservation of error rule.

RAP 2.5(a)'s preservation of error rule states: "The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a). The rule then states the discretionary exceptions to the general rule. The first exception permits a party to raise "lack of trial court jurisdiction" as a claimed error "for the first time in the appellate court." RAP 2.5(a)(1).

Either the court has jurisdiction or it does not. When the absence of jurisdiction is brought to the appellate court's attention, the court must sua sponte decide the jurisdictional issue, leaving it outside the zone of appellate discretion. Courts have broadly adopted the lack-of-jurisdiction exception, but the exception creates a temptation to label a claim of error as jurisdictional when it is not.<sup>36</sup> That kind of mislabeling is happening in this case in an effort to delay a final decision, while this Court considers the petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Robert J. Martineau, Subject Matter Jurisdiction as a New Issue on Appeal: Reining in an Unruly Horse, B.Y.U. L. Rev. 1, 34-35 (1988) (stating the most recognized exception is challenging the subject-matter jurisdiction of the trial court; courts have classified matters that are not properly within this exception). See Marley v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 125 Wn.2d 533, 539, 886 P.2d 189 (1994) (citing the article).

#### C. The Court of Appeals did not abuse discretion when it rejected the issue misclassified as a jurisdictional standing issue.

Under the abuse of discretion standard, discretion is abused when its exercise is manifestly unreasonable, exercised on untenable grounds, or exercised for untenable reasons.<sup>37</sup> La Mothe cannot satisfy that deferential standard when he did not properly raise, frame and support his claim of jurisdictional standing in the Court of Appeals and in this Court, and especially when that claim could not alter the decision on the merits of the case.

La Mothe's opening and reply appellate briefs did not raise, frame, and support a claim of standing under a particular statute, and he concedes he failed to develop the issue below. His drive-by appellate arguments were about violations of the pooling and servicing agreement and a UCC provision governing negotiable instruments; those arguments failed to develop specific points.<sup>38</sup> Additionally, his briefing speculating who might enforce a negotiable instrument was irrelevant, when the court admitted into evidence at trial the endorsed note (unlike the out-of-state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Accord, Humphrey Indus., Ltd. v. Clay Street Assocs., 170 Wn.2d 495, 506, 242 P.3d 846 (2010) (stating the multi-part abuse of discretion standard in the context of discretionary awards of attorney fees). <sup>38</sup> Reply Br. at 5 ((RCW 62A.3-203).

decisions that he relied upon).<sup>39</sup> The well-established majority rule rejects his other theories stemming from the pooling and servicing agreement.<sup>40</sup>

# D. The category of issue presented is better addressed in another case or in this Court's rulemaking process.

The petition presents the question of statutory standing ("is standing a jurisdictional issue if it is grounded in a particular statute that only permits certain parties to bring an action.")<sup>41</sup> Yet, the petition itself is not "grounded in a particular statute," causing the petition to be an improper and inefficient means to pose the question for review.<sup>42</sup> The statutory standing argument is merely a glimmer in the eye of appellate counsel, at most.

La Mothe argues that Lane v. City of Seattle reaffirms the principle of standing as jurisdictional.<sup>43</sup> In Lane, the city raised at trial a taxpayer's lack of standing to challenge the city's tax on a water utility that the taxpayer indirectly paid. The city wisely dropped the argument on appeal. This Court exercised its appellate discretion to raise the standing issue on review and decided the taxpayer had standing since the utility was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See Br. of Resp't a 31-34 (distinguishing out-of-state decisions construing substantially different court rules and preanswer and pretrial motions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See supra n. 26 (citing decisions).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Pet. For Review at 1 (§ C Issue Presented for Review); *id.* at 9 (when a particular cause of action is statutorily created, and that statute identifies a particular party with standing the lack of standing is a question of jurisdiction that can be raised at anytime.")

<sup>...</sup> the lack of standing is a question of jurisdiction that can be raised at anytime.")

42 Id. at 1("is standing a jurisdictional issue if it is grounded in a particular statute that only permits certain parties to bring an action.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Pet. For Review at 6 (*Lane v. City of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 875, 885, 194 P.3d 977 (2008)).

unlikely to raise it.<sup>44</sup> Even then, this Court declined to decide if taxpayer standing was jurisdictional: it merely ruled: "This case does not lend itself to deciding whether standing is jurisdictional in Washington, since neither party briefed the matter."<sup>45</sup>

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